IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

2

1

4

5

VS.

6 7

8

10

11 12

13

14

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 520 SOUTH 4TH STREET | SECOND FLOOR

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101

Ē

15

16 17

> 18 19

20

2122

23

2425

26

27

28

Appellant,

* -

NARCUS WESLEY,

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

S.C. CASE NO. 57473ctronically Filed Sep 22 2011 02:59 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DENIAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE JUDGE JAMES BIXLER, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ.

Attorney at Law

Issues Presented for Review vi
Statement of the Case
Statement of Facts
Arguments
I. 6 II. 7 III 20 IV. 23 V 25 VI. 26 VII 27 VIII. 28 IX 28
Conclusion
Certificate of Compliance
Certificate of Service

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 520 SOUTH 471 STREET | SECOND FLOOR LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 TEL. 702.384-5563 | FAX. 702.974-0623

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

2	UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
3	Bruton v. United States, 391 U. S. 123; 88 S.Ct. 620; 20 L.E.2d 476 (1968) 21
4	<u>Cruz v. New York</u> ,481 U.S. 186, 107 S.Ct. 1714, 95 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1987)
5	Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 345, 64 L.Ed. 2d 333, 100 Sup. Ct. 1708 (1980) 28
6	Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 13 L.Ed.2d 934 85 S.Ct. 1074 (1965)24
7	Finlay v. United States, 537 U.S. 851, 154 L.Ed. 2d 82, 123 Sup. Ct. 204 (2002) 28
8	Grey v. Maryland, 523 U. S. 185, 194-195-140 L.E.2d 294, 118 S.Ct. 1151 (1998) 23
9	Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. 530, 90 L.E.2d 514, 106 S.Ct. 2056 (1986)24
10	<u>Lilly v. Virginia</u> , 527 U.S. 116, 119 S.Ct. 1887, 144 L.E.2d 117, (1999)22
11	Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U. S. 364,113 S. Ct. 838 122 2d, 180 (1993)
12	Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 40132
13	Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 404, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 1068, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965) 22
14	Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) 12
15	<u>U.S. v. Cronic</u> , 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984)
16	<u>United States v. Kliti</u> , 156 F.3d 150, 153 (2 nd Cir. 1998)28
17	Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 267 L.Ed. 2d 220, 101 Sup. Ct. 1097 (1981)28
18	CONTAINE OF MICHAELD A
19	STATE OF NEVADA
20	Abbott v. Nevada, 122 Nev. 715, 138 P. 3d 462 (2006)
21	Bennett v. State, 111 Nev. 1099, 901 P.2d 676 (Nev. 1995)
22	Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 692 P.2d 1288 (1985)
23	<u>Carter v. State</u> , 121 Nev. 759, 769, 121 P.3d 592, 599 (2005)20
24	<u>Chapman v. State</u> , 117 Nev. 1, 16 P.3d 432 (2001)
25	Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 601,602, 817 P. 2d 1169, 1170 (1991)
26	<u>Dechant v. State</u> , 10 P.3d 108, 116 Nev. 918 (2000)34
27	Ford v. State, 122 Nev. 796, 805, 138 P.3d 500, 506 (2006)20
28	<u>Jones v. Nevada</u> , 877 P.2d 1052, 110 Nev. 730 (Nev. 1994)
	<u>Kirksey v. State</u> , 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 Nev. 1996)13

Koerschner v. State, 116 Nev. 111, 13 P.3d 451 (2000)
Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P. 2d 944, 946 (1994)
Mazzan v. State, 105 Nev. 745,783 P.2d 430 Nev. 1989)
Ouanbengboune v. State, 125 Nev, 220 P.3d 1122, 1125, Note 1 (2009) 15
State of Nevada v. Love, 865 P.2d 322, 109 Nev. 1136, (1993)
State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1145, 865 P.2d 322, 328 (1993)
Olausen v. State, 105 Nev. 110,771 P.2d 583 Nev. 1989)
Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 683 P.2d 504 (1984)
FEDERAL COURTS
<u>Armienti v. United States</u> , 234 F.3d 820, 823 (2 nd Cir. 2000) 28
Birt v. Montgomery, 709 F.2d 690, 701 (7th Cir.1983)30
Brown v. Dixon, 891 F.2d 490 (4th Cir.1989)
<u>Francis v. Spraggins</u> , 720 F.2d 1190 (11th Cir. 1983)
<u>Harding v. Lewis</u> , 834 F.2d 853, 859 (9 th Cir. 1997)
<u>Harich v. Wainwright</u> , 813 F.2d 1082, 1090 (11th Cir.1987)14
Hendricks v. Vasquez, 974 F.2d 1099, 1103, 1109-10 (9th Cir.1992)14
<u>Hoots v. Allsbrook</u> , 785 F.2d 1214, 1220 (4th Cir.1986)
Morris v. California, 966 F.2d 448, 454 (9th Cir.1991)14
Porter v. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1986)15
Smith v. McCormick, 914 F.2d 1153, 1170 (9th Cir.1990)
<u>Stano v. Dugger</u> , 921 F.2d 1125, 1152 (11 th Cir. 1991)25
<u>Toomey v. Bunnell</u> , 898 F.2d 741, 744 n. 2 (9 th Cir.)
<u>Triana v. United States</u> , 205 F.3d 36, 40 (2 nd Cir. 2000)
<u>U.S. v. Gray</u> , 878 F.2d 702, 711 (3d Cir.1989)
<u>United States v. John Doe # 1, 272 F.3d. 116, 125 (2nd Cir. 2000)</u>
<u>United States v. Levy</u> , 25 F.3d 146, 152 (2 nd Cir. 1994)28
<u>United States v. Iorizzo</u> , 786 F.2d 52, 58 (2 nd Cir. 1986)
<u>United States v. Swanson</u> , 943 F.2d 1070 (1991)

<u>United States v. Malpiedi</u> , 62 F.3d 465, 469 (2 nd Cir. 1995)
<u>United States v. Schwarz</u> , 283 F.3d 76, 91 (2 nd Cir. 2002)28
<u>United States v. Fulton</u> , 5 F.3d 605, 611 (2 nd Cir. 1993)
<u>United States v. Brau</u> , 159 F.3d 68, 74 (2 nd Cir. 1998)
Wiley v. Sowders, 647 F.2d 642 (6th Cir.1981)
Winkler v. Keane, 7 F.3d 304, 307 (2 nd Cir. 1993)
OTHER JURISDICTIONS
Brown v. Rice, 693 F.Supp. 381, 396 (W.D.N.C.1988)
<u>Capshaw v. State</u> , 11 P.3d 905 (Wyo. 2000)
<u>Hall v. State</u> , 109 P.3d 499 (2005 Wy. 35)
<u>People v. Brunner</u> , 797 P.2d 788 (Colo. App. 1990)21
<u>State of Arizona v. Holder</u> , 155 Ariz. 83, 745 P.2d 141(1987)
State v. Harbison, 315 N.C. 175, 337 S.E.2d 504 (N.C.1985)

Christopher R. Oram, LTD. 520 SOUTH 4"1 Street | Second Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Tel., 702.384-5563 | Fax, 702.974-0623

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- II. MR. WESLEY RESPECTFULLY REQUESTS THIS COURT REVERSE HIS CONVICTIONS OR ALTERNATIVELY REMAND THE CASE TO THE DISTRICT COURT FOR PURPOSES OF HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE POST-CONVICTION ISSUES.
- III. MR. WESLEY RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO ADDRESS ON APPEAL THE ISSUE OF ACTUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- IV. MR. WESLEY RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO PROPERLY INVESTIGATE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- V. MR. WESLEY RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON THE FAILURE TO ATTEMPT TO PRECLUDE SUGGESTIVE PRE-TRIAL IDENTIFICATION IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- VI. MR. WESLEY RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON THE FAILURE OF TRIAL COUNSEL TO REQUEST DANIELLE BROWNING TO UNDERGO A PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAM.
- VII. MR. WESLEY'S JURY WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BASED UPON THE FAILURE OF THE JURY TO REPRESENT A CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- VIII. COUNSEL FOR MR. WESLEY ADOPTS ALL ISSUES RAISED BY THE DEFENDANT IN HIS PRO PER PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS THAT ARE NOT BRIEFED ABOVE.
- IX. MR. WESLEY'S CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BASED UPON A CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS DURING TRIAL.

CERISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 520 SOUTH 4TH STREET | SECOND FLOOR LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 TEL. 702.384-5563 | FAX. 702.974-0623

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Wesley's trial began on April 9, 2008. Mr. Wesley's trial concluded on April 18, 2008. The jury returned with a verdict of guilt as to all counts (A.A. Vol 1 pp. 116-121). On July 3, 2008, Mr. Wesley was sentenced as follows: Count 1, Conspiracy to commit Burglary: 12 months; Count 2, Conspiracy to commit robbery: 72-180 months; Counts 3 and 11, Burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon: 72-180 months; Counts 4, 6, 7, and 9, robbery with use of a deadly weapon: 60-180 months plus a consecutive 60-180 months for the use of a deadly weapon; Counts 5 and 8, Assault with a deadly weapon: 24-72 months; Count 10, first degree kidnapping: 72-108; Counts 12-15 and 17, sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon: 10 years to life with a consecutive 8-20 years for the use of a deadly weapon; Count 16, coercion with use of a deadly weapon: 24-72 months with a consecutive 24-72 months for the use of a deadly weapon and Count 18, open and gross lewdness with use of a deadly weapon: 12 months. All sentences were ordered to run concurrent and Mr. Wesley received 185 days credit for time served (A. A. Vol. 1 pp. 122-126).

Mr. Wesley's judgment of conviction was filed on July 16, 2008. Thereafter, on July 18, 2008, the State appealed the sentence alleging that the sentences in counts 12-15 and 17 were improper. On July 31, 2008, Mr. Wesley filed his notice of cross-appeal. On September 3, 2008, the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed the State's appeal for the lack of jurisdiction and allowed Mr. Wesley to continue his appeal challenging his convictions.

On September 16, 2008, the State filed a motion to correct an illegal sentence. The State succeeded in this motion and Mr. Wesley's sentences on counts 12-15 and 17 were increased to 10 years to life. An amended judgment of conviction was filed on October 8, 2008.

Mr. Wesley's Order of Affirmance was filed on March 11, 2010 (A.A. Vol. 7 pp. 1278-1281). Mr. Wesley's remittitur was entered on April 8, 2010 (A.A. Vol. 7 pp. 1282).

Mr. Wesley filed the instant petition for writ of habeas corpus on September 9, 2010. A hearing was held on the petition on December 7, 2010, wherein Mr. Wesley's petition was denied. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed by the district court on January 4, 2011. A timely notice of appeal was filed on December 28, 2010 (A.A. Vol. 7 pp.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1312-1313). On February 11, 2011, this Court remanded the instant case back to the district court for the appointment of counsel. The instant appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 18, 2007, Danielle Browning was visiting her boyfriend, Justin Richardson (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 813-815). Justin Richardson also lived with his roommates David Motchinbaucher, Justin Foucault, and Ryan Tognotti (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 815-816). On February 18, at approximately 8:00-9:00 p.m. Danielle and Justin Richardson went to bed because Justin had to wake up early for work (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 817). Prior to going to bed, Danielle observed Ryan's little brother, Clint present in the residence (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 817). Danielle and Justin woke up when someone began to knock on the door (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 818). Justin and Danielle were told to place their hands on their heads and walk to the front room (819). Danielle noticed two individuals she did not recognize (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 819). Both were African American. One suspect was short and stocky and the other suspect was tall and thin (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 819). The short stocky suspect had a gun (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 819). The taller thinner suspect claimed to have a gun (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 823).

Danielle and Justin were ordered to lay face down on the ground. In the front room, Danielle noticed the other occupants of the home and Aitor Eskandon were also laying on the ground (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 20, 889). The suspects began taking the victims cell phones and wallets. The suspects demanded money (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 828). The suspects then inquired about pin numbers for ATM machines because they wanted more money (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 828). Two of the victims provided pin numbers (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 828).

Thereafter, the stockier suspect took Ryan to an ATM machine (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 828). The taller suspect stayed with the other victims until the other suspect and Ryan returned (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 830). During that time, the taller suspect asked where the ATM was because it was taking a long time (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 830). The taller suspect stood above the victims "kind of pacing" (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 830).

When the stockier suspect returned, he stated "we are ninety percent of the way done and the last ten percent was up to Danielle" (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 831). The stockier suspect demanded

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

that Danielle perform oral sex upon Justin (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 831-832). The stockier suspect placed a pillow over Justin's face (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 832). Justin was also ordered to perform oral sex on Danielle (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 832). Justin was nervous, and was unable to become erect (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 832). Danielle explained that the stockier guy appeared to be "the main one" (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 832). The victims were told if they did not cooperate they would be hurt (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 833). The taller suspect then ordered Ryan to perform sex because Justin could not perform (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 834-835). Ryan was handed a bottle of lotion and ordered to become erect (835). Ryan was also unable to become erect (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 835).

The stockier suspect ordered Danielle to sit on the staircase. The stockier suspect then began to touch Danielle's chest area (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 836-839). Then, the skinnier suspect ordered Danielle to sit in a blue recliner chair and placed his finger in her vagina (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 839-841). The skinnier suspect asked Danielle if she liked it and she responded "no" (839-840). When the thinner suspect touched Danielle, he was holding a gun (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 841). The stockier suspect then ordered the skinnier suspect to stop and gave Danielle her clothes back (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 842).

The suspects stated that they were looking for Grant and that it was Grant's fault that this occurred (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 843). Before leaving, some of the victims asked if they could have their phones back and the suspects stated that they would leave them outside (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 844). After leaving, the stockier suspect reentered the house and told them that one of the victims had moved, then he said he was just joking (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 844).

After a few minutes, the victims left the house and went to Clint's apartment (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 845-846). There, the police were contacted (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 846). Danielle was taken to the hospital where a sexual assault examination was performed (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 847).

At trial, Danielle identified Narcus Wesley as the taller thinner suspect (849-850). Danielle identified Narcus Wesley by his body type (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 850).

Justin Richardson also believed that both men had guns in their hand (A.A. Vol. 4 pp. 891-892). According to Justin, the stockier suspect did all the talking (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 896). However, Justin explained that the skinnier suspect told the victims that he would shoot them if

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

they moved (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 898-899). Justin described how he retrieved condoms for the stockier suspect. The stockier suspect then whispered that he had a reputation for being crazy and placed Justin on the floor putting the gun against the back of his head (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 922-923). Justin Richardson identified Narcus Wesley as having the same body type as the tall thin suspect (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 926-927).

All the cell phones were located right outside the house except for Danielle's (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 929). Danielle's cell phone was missing (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 929).

Ryan Tognotti was at home with his roommates and friends about to watch a movie when there was a knock on the front door (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 977). As Ryan was about to grab the door handle he noticed an individual outside (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 977). One of the individuals asked for an individual named Grant (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 977). Ryan knew that Grant had previously lived at the address (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 977-978). Then, the suspects pulled out handguns and entered the residence (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 978). The suspects had the victims lay on the ground (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 979).

Ryan volunteered to go with the short stocky suspect to retrieve money from an ATM (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 981). Ryan proceeded to the Wells Fargo bank on St. Rose and Eastern where he withdrew four hundred dollars (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 982-983). Ryan then withdrew an additional five hundred dollars using Justin's card (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 983). When Ryan returned to the home he was ordered to lay face down on the ground (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 984). Ryan heard the shorter suspect use the word "Marcus" (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 987). Ryan identified Narcus Wesley as the taller thinner man based upon body type (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 987).

Prior to August 2007, Grant Hieb lived at Great Dane Court (the residence in questions) (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1037). While living at Great Dane Court, Grant used to work out with Kameron Wilson (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1037). In February 2007, Henderson police knocked on Grant's door requesting permission to speak with him (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1038). Police asked Grant if he was aware of anyone who could possibly have been interested in robbing him (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1038). Grant told police that he suspected Mr. Wilson was the individual involved (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1039). Grant was unaware who the other individual could be (A.A. Vol. 5 pp.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1039). Grant admitted that he had sold marijuana at the Great Dane residence (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1039). Grant testified that police seized marijuana and approximately seven thousand dollars when they arrived at his apartment (A.A. Vol. 5 pp. 1039). Grant explained that Mr. Wilson had previously robbed him (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1042).

Detective Rodrigo Pena became aware that Danielle's phone was used in the area of the Circus Circus hotel (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1045-1047). Detective Pena also learned that Mr. Wilson was staying at the Circus Circus hotel (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1047). A search warrant was obtained for room 8744 at the Circus Circus hotel (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1047). Police obtained and executed a search warrant at the 4232 Gay Lane (A.A. Vol. pp. 1066-1074). ¹

During the interview of co-defendant, Delarian Wilson, he described his co-offender as Narcus. Mr. Wilson identified a picture of Narcus Wesley as his co-offender (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1075). Mr. Wilson stated that they played football together at UNLV (A.A. Vol. 6 pp. 1074).

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