1	IN THE SUPREME COUR	T OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3		Electronically Filed
4		Electronically Filed Nov 23 2011 01:42 p.m.
5	NARCUS WESLEY,	) Case No. 5747 Tracie K. Lindeman
6	Appellant,	
7	V.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
9	Respondent.	_ }
10		
11	RESPONDENT'S	S ANSWERING BRIEF
12	Appeal From Denial of Petition for Fighth Indicial Dis	Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) trict Court, Clark County
13	Eighth Suulcial Dis	trict Court, Clark County
14	CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ.	DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney
15	Christopher R. Oram, LTD. Nevada Bar #004349 520 South Fourth Street, 2nd Fl.	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781 Regional Justice Center

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

22

23

24

25

### B. Appellant's Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Strategically Introducing Co-Defendant Wilson's Statements

Appellant argues that trial counsels' admission of co-defendant Wilson's statements resulted in a "complete breakdown of the adversarial process," and that this Court should reverse his convictions, or remand the matter for an evidentiary hearing. AOB 20.

First, Appellant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this matter because this claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine. When an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue

1 will not be revisited. Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959, 860 P.2d 710, 715 (1993); see 2 also Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975); Pellegrini v. State, 3 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001); McNelton, 115 Nev. 396, 990 P.2d 1263; Valerio v. 4 State, 112 Nev. 383, 386, 915 P.2d 874, 876 (1996) The law of a first appeal is the law of 5 the case in all later appeals in which the facts are substantially the same; this doctrine 6 "cannot be avoided by more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made 7 after reflection upon the previous proceedings." Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710 8 (citing Hall, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797); see also McNelton, 115 Nev. 396, 990 P.2d 1263. 9 Here, to the extent Appellant's claim addresses the district court's admission of co-defendant 10 Wilson's statement, this portion of the claim was already raised on direct appeal and the 11 issue was decided on the merits by this Court. Specifically, this Court held that Appellant's 12 claims that the district court erred by admitting co-defendant Wilson's hearsay statements 13 and guilty plea "are without merit." 7 AA 1278. The Court further noted that "Wilson's 14 confession and guilty plea were admitted by the defense over the State's objection. See Ford v. State, 122 Nev. 796, 805, 138 P.3d 500, 506 (2006) (confrontation rights may be waived 15 16 through counsel)." 7 AA 1278. Accordingly, Appellant cannot now argue that he is entitled 17 to an evidentiary hearing on the district court's admission of co-defendant Wilson's 18 statements as it is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

19 Next, the Confrontation Clause in the Sixth Amendment of the United State's 20 Constitution guarantees the right of a criminal defendant to be confronted with the witnesses 21 against him. The United States Supreme Court in Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 22 S.Ct. 1620 (1968) held that since there is a substantial risk that a jury will use a facially 23 incriminating confession of a non-testifying defendant as evidence of the guilt of his co-24 defendant, the admission of the confession in a joint trial violates the confrontation clause. 25 Id. at 126, 88 S.Ct. at 1622. Appellant's reliance on Bruton to support his claim that co-26 defendant Wilson's statements were improperly admitted is misplaced. While it is true that the admission of a co-defendant's confession in a joint trial has been found to violate a 27 28 criminal defendant's right of cross-examination, this was not a joint trial. Moreover, in

<u>Ducksworth v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 951, 966 P.2d 165 (1998), this Court explained that a defendant can only establish prejudice, when faced with the co-defendant's statement, when the evidence of guilt is largely circumstantial. Here, the case against Appellant was not circumstantial, but was supported by all six (6) victims' testimony and by Appellant's own admissions. Not only are the issues regarding the Confrontation Clause and the admission of co-defendant Wilson's statements barred by the law of the case doctrine, but they are misplaced in Appellant's instant petition.

8 Finally, trial counsel did not acquiesce to the State's theory and the admission of co-9 defendant Wilson's statements was a strategic, tactical decision that in no way resulted in a 10 breakdown of the adversarial process. Trial counsel admitted co-defendant Wilson's 11 statements to further their theory of the case. There is no indication in the record that trial 12 counsel admitted these statements in an attempt to build credibility with the jury, nor is there 13 any indication in the record that trial counsel admitted these statements in an attempt to not 14 insult the jury's intelligence. Appellant's trial counsel was not ineffective, and their actions 15 are distinguishable from counsel's actions in United States vs. Swanson, 943 F.2d 1070, 16 1076 (9th Cir. 1991). In Swanson, counsel told the jury that no reasonable doubt existed as 17 to his client's identity as the perpetrator of the only crime charged in the indictment. 18 Notably, the court in Swanson recognized "that in some cases a trial attorney may find it 19 advantageous to his client's interests to concede certain elements of an offense or his guilt of 20 one of several charges." Id. Appellant's case is one where it was advantageous to 21 Appellant's interests to concede certain elements of an offense because Appellant's own admission of the sexual assault and the robbery was entered into evidence through the 22 23 State's direct examination of Officer Weske. 6 AA 1087. In the instant case, trial counsels' 24 tactics, including the admission of co-defendant Wilson's statements, did not lessen the 25 State's burden of persuading the jury that Appellant was guilty of all eighteen (18) counts contained in the Information. 26

Trial counsel offered Wilson's taped statements to police into evidence which were subsequently played to the jury. 6 AA 1102. During the playing of the tapes, defense

1 counsel continued to ask questions highlighting the inconsistencies in Wilson's statements. 2 6 AA 1102-03. After highlighting the inconsistencies between Wilson's statements to police, 3 the testimony of the victims in this case, and Wilson's subsequent guilty plea, trial counsel 4 offered Wilson's guilty plea agreement into evidence. 6 AA 1105. It is clear from the record 5 that statements made by Wilson were offered at the insistence of defense counsel for the 6 purpose of painting Wilson as the perpetrator of the crimes. 4 AA 801-06; 6 AA 1092-1106; 7 6 AA 1191-94. Counsel stated on the record that they did not enter into the decision to admit 8 Wilson's plea and plea canvass lightly. 6 AA 1099. Mr. Landis stated that this was a 9 reasonable decision that they made after talking to each other (Mr. Landis and Mr. Banks) 10 and after talking to their client. 6 AA 1099. Appellant was present during this conversation 11 between the parties and the court and did not manifest any disagreement. 6 AA 1099. It is 12 clear from the record that the decision to admit Wilson's statements was the result of 13 strategic planning on the part of the defense. The evidence was proffered by the defense in 14 an attempt to show that co-defendant Wilson was the person responsible for the crimes 15 committed.

16 Furthermore, strategy decisions by counsel are "tactical" decisions and will be 17 "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 18 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996). Appellant's claim that the decision to seek the 19 admission of co-defendant Wilson's guilty plea was never discussed with him, nor did he 20 consent to the presentation of the evidence to the jury is belied by the record. The State 21 requested that the Defense submit on the record that their decision to enter co-defendant 22 Wilson's statements to the police and guilty plea agreement was a strategic decision and that 23 they were in fact waiving Confrontation Clause violation claims. 6 AA 1099. Trial counsel 24 stated that they were making this "reasonable decision" after speaking to each other and to 25 their client and that they were not flying "off the cuff." 6 AA 1099. Appellant was present 26 in court when this conversation was taking place. Claiming now that he did not consent to 27 this tactical decision and that the strategy was never discussed with him is false and is belied 28 by the record.

1 For the foregoing reasons, the district court properly denied Appellant's petition and 2 his request for an evidentiary hearing on the claims in his petition. Notably, during 3 Appellant's sentencing hearing, the district court stated that it felt that trial counsel did an 4 excellent job defending Appellant's case. 7 AA 1353. Appellant has failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that either trial counsels' strategic decisions throughout trial 6 fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, or that any different strategic decisions 7 would have resulted in a reasonable probability of a different result at trial. As such, the 8 district court's denial should be affirmed.

III

# **APPELLANT'S TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL WERE NOT INEFFECTIVE** FOR FAILING TO ADDRESS AN ACTUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Appellant's bare claim that his trial counsel was conflicted when they represented 11 Appellant because the Office of the Public Defender also represented Appellant's father on a 12 wholly unrelated matter does not establish an actual conflict. Compare with Clark v. State, 13 108 Nev. 324, 831 P.2d 1374 (1992). If there is an actual conflict of interest that results in an 14 adverse effect in a lawyer's performance a presumption of prejudice to Defendant is created. 15 Id. However, "[c]onflict of interest and divided loyalty situations can take many forms, and 16 17 whether an actual conflict exists must be evaluated on the specific facts of each case. In general, a conflict exists when an attorney is placed in a situation conducive to divided 18 loyalties." Id. (quoting Smith v. Lockhart, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir.1991)). 19

Here, there is no actual conflict of interest. Appellant argues that there was an actual 20 21 conflict of interest because testimony about a rifle owned by Appellant's father was inadvertently derived during Officer Weske's testimony, and because the Office of the 22 Public Defender represented Appellant's father in the case against him for being an ex-felon 23 in possession of a firearm. AOB 20-21; 6 AA 1077. The case against Appellant's father had 24 25 been dismissed prior to Appellant's trial. 6 AA 1080. Appellant further states that defense counsel recognized the issue prior to trial, and that defense counsel should have filed a 26 motion to withdraw based upon the conflict of interest. AOB 21. The claim that defense 27

28

5

9

2 colloguy took place during trial outside the presence of the jury: **The Court**: It's [testimony about the rifle in Appellant's father's home] even less 3 innocuous than that. It's just a rifle found in the course of, that's it, period. 4 **Mr. Banks**: Judge, **if this issue had come up pretrial**, and we knew we were going to have to contend with this rifle evidence in this trial, I think it's safe to say 5 that the Defense at that point if the evidence was coming in would have declared a conflict and moved to withdraw from the case on the grounds that with that evidence coming in before a jury we can't adequately represent Narcus and challenge that effectively. I think that's where we are now that that has come in, 6 and at this point I submit to the Court I think we have a conflict in light of this 7 evidence, perhaps our office withdrawing and somebody to represent Mr. Wesley 8 be appointed. Perhaps dismissal of the charges are appropriate, in light of what has transpired today. 9 **The Court**: There is not going to be a mistrial. You are not going to get off of 10 this case. There is no conflict, and we're proceeding. 11 6 AA 1081 (emphasis added). Trial counsel did not recognize the issue prior to trial. 12 Furthermore, trial counsel adamantly argued for withdrawal, and went so far as to request a 13 mistrial in the case. These actions show that counsel was not ineffective in handling the 14 alleged conflict of interest. More importantly, an actual conflict of interest did not exist. 15 Appellant's counsel never had to argue that the rifle belonged to Appellant's father and there 16 was no point where counsel had divided loyalties to Appellant and to Appellant's father. The 17 district court issued a curative instruction to the jury and specifically stated that "[n]o one 18 has ever asserted that the Defendant in this case owned or exercised any control whatsoever 19 over that rifle." 6 AA 1081. Additionally, at the close of Officer Weske's testimony, the 20 court asked if in the course of "this entire investigation did you ever recover any handguns," 21 to which Officer Weske responded "No, sir." 6 AA 1111. There were no guns admitted into 22 evidence and there were no rifles involved in the crimes committed. Trial counsel never 23 mentioned the rifle again, and did not even represent Appellant's father at the time of 24 Appellant's trial because the case against Appellant's father had been dismissed. Trial 25 counsel was not ineffective in handling this issue, and there was no actual conflict of 26 interest. As such, the district court's denial of Appellant's petition as to this issue should be 27 affirmed. 28

counsel recognized the issue prior to trial is belied by the record. Specifically, the following

1

1 Moreover, as there was no actual conflict of interest, appellate counsel was not 2 ineffective for failing to raise this issue on appeal. This Court has held that all appeals must 3 be "pursued in a manner meeting high standards of diligence, professionalism and 4 competence." <u>Burke v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1366, 1368, 887 P.2d 267, 268 (1994). In Jones v. 5 <u>Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3312 (1983), the Supreme Court recognized that 6 part of professional diligence and competence involves "winnowing out weaker arguments 7 on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." Id. 8 at 751-52, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the 9 risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak 10 contentions." Id. at 753, 103 S.Ct. at 3313. The Court also held that, "for judges to 11 second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to 12 raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous 13 and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

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